SUPREME COURT NO. 20-1000 BLACK HAWK CASE NO. AGCR207343

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

KELVIN PLAIN, SR.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY HONORABLE WILLIAM WEGMAN, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

FINAL BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Gary Dickey

Counsel of Record

DICKEY, CAMPBELL, & SAHAG LAW FIRM, PLC

301 East Walnut St., Ste. 1

Des Moines, Iowa 50309

PHONE: (515) 288-5008 FAX: (515) 288-5010

EMAIL: gary@iowajustice.com

PROOF OF SERVICE

On April 1, 2021, I served this brief on all other parties by EDMS to their respective counsel and mailed a copy to the Appellant at his last known residential address:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING KELVIN PLAIN'S CLAIMS THAT AFRICAN AMERICANS WERE SYSTEMATICALLY UNDERREPRESENTED ON HIS JURY PANEL

Berghuis v. Smith, 559 U.S. 314 (2010)

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979)

Ex parte Milligan, 4 Wall 2 (1866)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)

Lockhart v. McCree, 476 U.S. 162 (1986)

McClesky v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279 (1987)

State v. Jones, 490 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Veal, 930 N.W.2d 319 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621 (2019)

Michigan v. Smith, 615 N.W.2d 1 (Mich. 2000)

Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522 (1975)

U.S. Const. amend. VI 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1)

Colleen P. Fitzharris, Note, Can We Calculate Fairness and Reasonableness? Determining What Satisfies the Fair Cross-Section Requirement of the Sixth Amendment, 112 Mich. L. Rev. 489 (2013)

David M. Coriell, Note, An (Un)fair Cross Section: How the Application of Duren Undermines the Jury, 100 Cornell L. Rev. 463 (2015)

Monique Anne Gaylor, Note, *Postcards from the Bench: Federal Habeas Review of Unarticulated State Court Decisions*, 31 Hofstra L. Rev. 1263 (2003)

Richard M. Re, Jury Poker: A Statistical Analysis of the Fair Cross-Section Requirement, 8 Ohio St. J. Crim. L. 533 (2011)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this case presents substantial constitutional questions of changing legal principles, the Iowa Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2015, an all-white jury found Kelvin Plain, a black man, guilty of one count of first-degree harassment, an aggravated misdemeanor, under Iowa Code sec. 708.7(1)(b). (App. at 9). The district court imposed a two-year prison sentence but suspended it and ordered a term of probation running consecutively after a sentence on a parole violation. (App. at 15). Plain appealed. *See State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017).

Among the several appellate issues he raised, Plain asserted that the racial composition of the jury pool violated his Sixth Amendment right to an impartial jury. *Id.* at 821. In deciding the issue, the Iowa Supreme Court overruled *State v. Jones*, 490 N.W.2d 787, 792-93 (Iowa 1992), to the extent that it held that absolute disparity was the appropriate test to decide Plain's fair cross section claim. *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 826. As a result, the court conditionally affirmed his conviction and remanded to the district court "for development of the record on the Sixth Amendment challenge." *Id.* at 829.

On remand, Plain produced twenty-seven exhibits consisting of deposition testimony, expert reports, and various other documents. (App. at 99). The district court held an evidentiary hearing at which Plain presented testimony from the Black Hawk County jury manager along with a court-appointed expert in jury management practices. (App. at 99). Following the hearing, the court below entered a ruling denying Plain's Sixth Amendment challenge. (App. at 109). Plain appeals that ruling. (App. at 111).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 19, 2015, the Black Hawk County Attorney charged Kelvin Plain by trial information with first-degree harassment following an argument with his neighbor. (App. at 7). Unable to reach a plea agreement, Plain's case proceeded to trial. In 2015, Black Hawk County used a computer program to randomly select residents for jury service. (App. at 460). The program's database was comprised of the Iowa Secretary of State's voter registration list along with the Iowa Department of Transportation's list of individuals with a driver's license or state-

issued identification card. (App. at 460). Updates to the database data occur once a year, usually in July or August. (App. at 466).

Black Hawk County jury manager, Billie Treloar, used the program to generate a pool consisting of panels of one hundred potential jurors for each criminal case expected to go to trial. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 13, 26-27; App. at 460; 463). Five weeks before the trial dated, she would send a jury summons to each person with a written questionnaire to be completed online or returned in the mail.² (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 26-27; App. at 463). Upon return receipt, Treloar entered the questionnaire responses into the database. (App. at 461). If the summons was undeliverable, Treloar attempted to find a new address for the individual. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 15). If she identified a new address within Black Hawk County, she would enter the change and reissue the summons. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 15-16). If she

¹ Treloar took over the jury management duties "three or four years" prior to her deposition in November 2017. (App. at 458).

² Not every respondent returns the question with complete information. For example, some individuals do not answer the question about race. (App. at 467).

identified a new address outside of Black Hawk County, she would remit the individual's information to the other jury manager for the other county. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 15-16). If Treloar identified a new address outside of Iowa, she would mark the individual as disqualified. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 15-16).

Treloar would mail any individual who failed to respond the initial summons "a reminder letter" three weeks before trial. (Ex. 114, Treloar Depo. at 24). If the person did not appear at trial, Treloar would mail a "failure to appear letter" along with a summons to appear for another jury pool. (App. at 462). After the third failure to appear, the court would order a hearing for the individual to show cause why he or she should not be held in contempt. (App. at 462-463). The punishment following a finding of contempt was usually a monetary fine. (App. at 463).

In preparation for Plain's trial, Treloar mailed summonses to one hundred residents for his jury panel. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 13). Fifty-six residents responded to the summonses by filling out jury questionnaires. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 13-14). Three of the responding individuals were excused before the trial started.

(11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 13). Forty-nine individuals appeared on the day of trial and checked in with the jury manager. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 21-22). Of the forty-nine, only one was African-American. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 18). None of the twenty-three individuals drawn for voir dire were African-American. (Trial Tr. at 106). On this basis, Plain objected to the underrepresentation of African-Americans as it violated his Sixth Amendment right to a jury panel that represents a fair cross-section of the community. (Trial Tr. at 38, 97-98). The district court overruled Plain's objection because he could not show sufficient underrepresentation under the absolute disparity test. (Trial Tr. at 105-106). The all-white jury convicted Plain as charged. (App. at 9). The court imposed a two-year prison sentence but suspended it and ordered a term of probation running consecutively after a sentence on a parole violation. (App. at 15).

After filing a motion for a new trial, which was denied, Plain appealed. (App. at 10; 12). The Iowa Supreme Court agreed with Plain that the district court erred in relying solely on the absolute disparity test to evaluate whether African-Americans were

underrepresented in the jury pool. *See Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 826 (overruling *Jones* to the extent it held that absolute disparity was the appropriate test of underrepresentation). The court conditionally affirmed Plain's conviction and remanded to the district court for further development of the record. *Id.* at 829.

On remand, Plain renewed his motion for new trial on the basis that African Americans were systematically underrepresented in his jury pool. Following an evidentiary hearing, the district court issued a ruling denying Plain's motion. The court found that African-Americans were a distinctive group in the community. (App. at 99). Next, the court found that Plain demonstrated underrepresentation of African-Americans under article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution but not under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. (App. at 99). Lastly, the court held there was not showing that the underrepresentation was "systematic." (App. at 99).

This appeal ensued.

ARGUMENT

THE UNDERREPRESENTATION OF AFRICAN-AMERICANS IN PLAIN'S JURY PANEL VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO A JURY THAT REPRESENTS A FAIR CROSS-SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY

Preservation of Error

Plain preserved his Sixth Amendment claim by objecting to the composition of the jury venire and requesting a new panel. (Trial Tr. at 98-100). Plain further preserved error by filing a motion for new trial on remand. (App. at 10).

Plain also preserved error for his claim under Article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution seeking relief *State v. Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2019). (App. at 36-69). The State of Iowa clearly understood Plain's claim to be based on the Iowa Constitution because it analyzed the claim under Article I, section 10. (App. at 23)("The State maintains the racial composition of the jury pool did not violate defendant's Sixth Amendment right *or Article I, Section 10 right* to an impartial jury selected by a fair cross-section of the community"). As did the district court. (App. at 105). While Plain did not originally assert his fair cross-section claim under the Iowa Constitution, the issue was presented to,

and decided by, the district court. See Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012) (explaining that error is preserved if the court considered the issue and necessarily ruled on it). In any event, the State waived any error preservation objection by not raising it on remand.

Standard of Review

The standard of review for Plain' Sixth Amendment challenge to the composition of the jury is de novo. *Duren v. Missouri*, 439 U.S. 357 (1979).

Merits

Trial by jury "is a vital principle, underlying the whole administration of criminal justice." *Ex parte Milligan*, 4 Wall 2, 123 (1866). The jury "is a criminal defendant's fundamental protection of life and liberty against race or color prejudice." *McClesky v. Kemp*, 481 U.S. 279, 310 (1987). The "American concept of the jury trial contemplates a jury drawn from a fair cross section of the community." *Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. 522, 527 (1975). It is "an essential component of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial." *Id.* at 528.

The fair cross-section requirement "guards against the exercise of arbitrary power" and serves as a check against the "overzealous or mistaken prosecutor" "in preference to the professional or perhaps overconditioned or biased response of the judge." *Lockhart v. McCree*, 476 U.S. 162, 174 (1986); *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 821. "It also helps legitimize the legal system and is critical to public confidence in the fairness of the criminal justice system." *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 821. "Finally, it encourages civic participation through the shared administration of justice." *Id.* For Kelvin Plain, these benefits were a mirage.

The empirical data from the months leading up to Plain's trial establishes that African-Americans were systematically underrepresented in Black Hawk County's jury pools. But, it did not have to be that way. The record links the underrepresentation to lower response and appearance rates of potential jurors from the zip code in which 50% of the county's African-Americans reside. The record also establishes that Black Hawk County used several jury management practices at the time that are known to contribute to lower response and appearance rates. This evidence

is more than sufficient to establish a prima facial claim of systematic underrepresentation. Accordingly, Plain is entitled to a new trial.

A. Applicable legal principles

The Sixth Amendment to the United States

Constitution provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed." U.S. Const. amend. VI. The right to an impartial jury entitles the criminally accused to a jury drawn from a fair cross-section of the community. *Taylor*, 419 U.S. at 530.

In *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 357, the United States Supreme Court established a three-part test for proving a violation of the fair cross-section requirement. *Id.* at 364. Under *Duren's* three-part test, a defendant can establish a prima facie violation of the fair cross-section requirement by showing

(1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a 'distinctive' group in the community; (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and

(3) that this underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process.

Id. If the defendant establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the state to justify the disproportionate representation by proving "a significant state interest" is "manifestly and primarily advanced" by the causes of the disproportionate exclusion. *Id.* at 367-68.

Under the first part of the *Duren* test, a community group is distinctive if it contains "a definite, objectively ascertainable membership that constitutes a substantial segment of the population and has common and unique opinions, attitudes, and experiences that cannot be adequately represented by members of the general population." *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 822. The requirement to prove membership in a distinctive group provides a nexus to "characteristics that are relevant to constating a jury venire that is representative of the community." *Id.* Under Iowa and federal law, distinctive groups include race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or economic status. *Id.*

The second part of the *Duren* test measures the reasonableness of the distinctive group's representation on jury

venires relative to its size in the community. It "distinguishes between acceptable and unacceptable levels of deviation of a distinctive group on a jury venire." *Id.* (citing David M. Coriell, Note, *An (Un)fair Cross Section: How the Application of Duren Undermines the Jury*, 100 Cornell L. Rev. 463, 480 (2015)). To satisfy this prong, a defendant must offer proof of "a statistically significant underrepresentation" of the minority group in the jury pool or panel. *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 202.

Iowa courts employ the standard deviation test to measure underrepresentation. *Id.* at 302-303; *see also State v. Veal*, 930 N.W.2d 319, 328-30 (Iowa 2019). "Standard deviation is calculated by analyzing a sample . . . for randomness and fluctuations." *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 823. The percentage of the distinctive group in the general population is determined by using the most recent United States Census data adjusted to show only those who are legally eligible for jury service. *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 304-305. Jury panel information may be aggravated so long as data closer in time is not omitted with the earlier panels are considered. *Id.* at 305. For Sixth Amendment purposes, a

defendant must show the percentage of the distinctive group in the jury panel is less than the expected percentage by at least two standard deviations. *State v. Williams*, 929 N.W.2d 621, 630 (2019). A defendant raising a fair cross-section challenge under the article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution, however, need only show one standard deviation of disparity. *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 304.

The third part of the *Duren* test requires a defendant to tie the underrepresentation to some aspect "inherent in a particular jury selection process utilized." *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 824 (citing *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 366). A defendant need not prove intentional discrimination. *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 668 n.26. But, statistical disparities, even over time, are not enough. *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 307. Rather, the defendant must tie the disparity to a particular practice. *Id.* For Sixth Amendment purposes, a defendant must offer more proof than merely "pointing to a host of factors that, individually or in combination, *might* contribute to a group's underrepresentation." *Berghuis v. Smith*, 559 U.S. 314, 332 (2010). Under article I, section 10 of the Iowa constitution,

however, a "policy or practice relating to excusing jurors might amount to systemic exclusion." *Williams*, 929 N.W.2d at 630.

B. The number of African-Americans in Plain's jury panel did not fairly and reasonably represent the proportion of African-Americans residing in Black Hawk County

Proper standard deviation analysis under *Lilly* requires two things: (1) the percentage of jury-eligible residents in the distinctive group according to the most current Census data; and (2) aggregate demographic data about previous jurors for a reasonable time period preceding the defendant's trial. *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 304-305. In this case, the first item is easily discernible. Census data shows that jury-eligible African-Americans comprised 7.5% of the Black Hawk County population at the time of Plain's trial. (App. at 475).

The second piece of information is more difficult to discern because Black Hawk County did not require respondents to answer the question concerning race on juror questionnaires prior to January of 2019. (App. at 101). According to the court's appointed expert, Paula Hannaford-Agor, more than half of the

juror questionnaires in the year leading up to Plain's trial lacked information about the respondents' race. (App. at 101; 434).

To aid the court, Hannaford-Agor employed a process called geocoding to create two models for the missing racial data based on its correlation with other known factors such as zip code. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 32; App. at 434). The first model estimated the racial composition of all jurors based entirely on the correlation between race and zip code from November 4, 2014, through October 27, 2015. (App. at 101). The second model estimated the racial composition only for jurors who did not report their race on the questionnaires over the same time period. (11/01/19 Hr'g Tr. at 3; App. at 441). In other words, the second model used actual data to the extent it was available and used geocoding only for the missing data. Hannaford-Agor explained that by modeling for only the unknown data, "Model 2 is likely to generate the more accurate estimates." (Ex. 109 at 11).

Relying on Hannaford-Agor's models, Plain retained Drake
University Professor of Statistics, Dr. Amy Vaughan, to conduct
the standard deviation analysis required by *Lilly*. Dr. Vaughan

performed calculations on two sets of data. She used data from Black Hawk County juror questionnaires for the six months preceding Plain's trial whose respondents identified their race in their answers. (App. at 474-475). She performed four standard deviation calculations: (1) African-Americans summoned for any jury pool, (2) African-Americans in jury panels, (3) Mixed race African-Americans summoned for any jury pool, and (4) Mixed race African-Americans in jury panels. (Ex. 127 at 2-4)(App. at 475-477). Her results are summarized below:

	# Summoned who identified race	# African- Americans Reporting	# African- Americans Expected	Standard Deviation (African- Americans Alone)	Standard Deviation (Mixed Race African- Americans)
# in Jury Pools	8,269	510	625	4.78	6.09
# on Jury Panels	1,696	83	128	4.15	4.69

Using Hannaford-Agor's twelve months of data from Model 2,
Vaughan performed six additional standard deviation
calculations: (1) African-Americans summoned, (2) Mixed race
African-Americans summoned, (3) African-Americans responding
to the summons; (4) Mixed race African-Americans responding to
the summons; (5) African-Americans reporting for jury service,

and (6) Mixed race African-Americans reporting for jury service.

(Ex. 127 at 4-5). The results of these calculations are below:

	Hannaford- Agor Model 2	# African- Americans	# African- Americans Expected	Standard Deviation (African- Americans Alone)	Standard Deviation (Mixed Race African- Americans)
# Summoned	21,653	1,599	1,728	0.96	3.24
# Responding	11,131	746	842	3.41	4.98
# Reporting	6,983	421	528	4.83	6.02

(App. at 477-478).

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