IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-1000

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

KELVIN PLAIN, SR.
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE WILLIAM P. WEGMAN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

BRIAN EDWARDS
Black Hawk County Attorney

MOLLY EDWARDS & DARIUS ROBINSON
Assistant Black Hawk County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. The district court did not err in rejecting Plain's claim.

Preservation of Error

Error was preserved for any challenges and arguments that Plain raised and that the district court rejected in its ruling. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012). This means that he may not advance new theories of systematic exclusion on appeal—he can only argue that the district court erred in rejecting the theories that he advanced below. *See* Brief in Support (12/2/19) at 41–66; App. 70; Ruling (7/10/20) at 8–10; App. 106. The State will discuss Plain's attempts to raise a new claim under the Iowa Constitution in the first section of the argument. *See* Def's Br. at 16.

For the State, error is preserved to defend the basis for the district court's ruling, and to renew arguments that were urged below and offered as alternative grounds for denying Plain's challenge. *See King v. State*, 818 N.W.2d 1, 11–12 (Iowa 2012); *DeVoss v. State*, 648 N.W.2d 56, 61–63 (Iowa 2002).

Standard of Review

Review of a ruling on a fair-cross-section challenge is de novo. *See Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 298 (quoting *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 810).

Merits

Plain's claim fails on both prong #2 and prong #3. Either is an independently sufficient basis for affirming the district court's ruling.

A. Plain could not raise and cannot renew a separate challenge under Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution. This remand was limited to his Sixth Amendment claim that was preserved by timely pre-trial objection and renewed on direct appeal.

Plain argues that he preserved error on a challenge under Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution. *See* Def's Br. at 16. But his pre-trial challenge to the jury panel was exclusively based upon the Sixth Amendment—he did not mention Article I, Section 10, nor the Iowa Constitution. *See* TrialTr. 97:22–101:10; TrialTr. 104:6–106:25. On appeal, the Iowa Supreme Court did not consider any fair-cross-section challenge under the Iowa Constitution—it only considered the preserved Sixth Amendment claim. *See Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 821–29; *accord Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 328 n.5 (holding error was not preserved for a claim under Article I, Section 10 when “in the proceedings below, Veal cited *only* the Sixth Amendment, not article I, section 10”). And it specifically directed the court, on remand, to “determine whether Plain's right to a representative jury under the Sixth Amendment was violated.” *See Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 829.

Considering any claim that alleged a violation of Article I, Section 10 would exceed the scope of the remand order and would thus exceed the district court's limited authority in that context.

When an appellate court remands a case to a trial court for some stated further proceeding, the nature and extent of that proceeding are circumscribed. The authority of the court on remand is limited to the matters specified by the appellate court. *Kuhlmann v. Persinger*, 154 N.W.2d 860, 864 (Iowa 1967). Put another way, the trial court has no authority to act on matters outside the appellate court's mandate.

Winnebago Industries v. Smith, 548 N.W.2d 582, 584 (Iowa 1996).

Plain argues that the district court, on remand, *did* analyze his claim under Article I, Section 10. *See* Def's Br. at 16 (citing Ruling (7/10/20) at 7; App. 105). He cites the district court's observation that he had shown sufficient underrepresentation to carry prong #2 under *Lilly's* standard for Article 1, Section 10, but not under *Veal's* standard for the Sixth Amendment. *See* Ruling (7/10/20) at 7; App. 105. But Plain's attempt to infer that this meant that the district court ruled on the merits of an Article I, Section 10 claim is foreclosed by the rest of the written ruling, which ended with this:

On remand, the court was required to determine whether the racial composition of the jury pool violated Plain's right to a fair trial under the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution. The court finds it did not.

Ruling (7/10/20) at 11; App. 109. This shows that the district court recognized and respected the constraints on the scope of its authority on this limited remand—and, accordingly, its written order ends there, without ruling on any analogous claim under the Iowa Constitution. Assuming that Plain *could* have raised an Article I, Section 10 claim on remand, the lack of a ruling on such a claim means that error was not preserved to raise it on appeal. *See Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 864; *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

If the district court had ruled on a challenge under Article I, Section 10 during this limited remand, it would still be too late to preserve error. Likewise, Plain’s argument that the State waived error preservation by not raising it (or by responding to unpreserved claims on their merits) is unavailing. *See* Def’s Br. at 16. In *Williams*, the Iowa Supreme Court held that error was not preserved for a claim under Article I, Section 10 because it was not raised and ruled upon before trial—and it did not matter that the Article I, Section 10 claim *was* raised in a motion for new trial and was subsequently ruled upon, after the verdict but before entering judgment. *See State v. Williams*, 929 N.W.2d 621, 629 n.1 (Iowa 2019). That post-verdict ruling did not preserve error because it was already too late to raise that challenge.

It is true that the district court referred to the Iowa Constitution . . . in denying the motion for new trial at the time of sentencing. However, a motion for new trial is too late to raise a constitutional challenge to the jury panel. *See State v. Johnson*, 476 N.W.2d 330, 333–34 (Iowa 1991) (finding that a constitutional objection to the jury panel was waived when first asserted in a postverdict motion for new trial).

A post-verdict motion challenging the jury panel simply comes too late to comply with the policies behind the preservation requirement. At the time of defendant’s motion, the only corrective action the trial court could have taken would have been to sustain the motion for new trial and conduct a second trial in front of a second jury.

Id. at 334; . . . Accordingly, we hold that Williams waived any article I, section 10 challenge to the jury panel.

Williams, 929 N.W.2d at 629 n.1. And *Williams* also concluded with a similar limited-remand order, “remand[ing] to give Williams a further opportunity to develop his Sixth Amendment fair-cross-section claim.”

See id. at 630. Like Williams, Plain did not raise a challenge under Article I, Section 10 before trial. Unlike Williams, Plain did not raise such a challenge through a pre-judgment motion for new trial or on direct appeal, either. Williams was already too late—so Plain’s claim, which was raised even later, cannot possibly be timely. Moreover, it does not matter if the State challenged the timeliness of the untimely post-verdict claim—that was not required in *Williams* or in *Johnson*.

See Williams, 929 N.W.2d at 629 n.1; *Johnson*, 476 N.W.2d at 332–34

(holding that post-trial challenge to jury panel was untimely and did not preserve error for challenges on appeal, without any need to assess whether error was preserved for arguments that a post-trial challenge was too untimely to preserve error); accord *Top of Iowa Co-op v. Sime Farms, Inc.*, 608 N.W.2d 454, 470 (Iowa 2000) (“In view of the range of interests protected by our error preservation rules, this court will consider on appeal whether error was preserved despite the opposing party’s omission in not raising this issue at trial or on appeal.”).

To summarize, any claim under Article I, Section 10 was outside the scope of the limited remand order. The district court recognized that, and it only ruled on Plain’s Sixth Amendment claim. See Ruling (7/10/20) at 11; App. 109. That means error was not preserved for this Court to reach claims under Article I, Section 10 by any ruling on the merits of such a claim. See *Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 564. And even without the clear limitation in that remand order, any claim under Article I, Section 10 that Plain raised for the first time at this remand hearing would have already been untimely—so even if the district court *had* reached and ruled upon the merits of such a claim, this Court would still reject that claim as untimely and unpreserved. See *Williams*, 929 N.W.2d at 629 n.1; *Johnson*, 476 N.W.2d at 334.

B. The district court did not err in finding that Plain failed to establish systematic exclusion for his Sixth Amendment challenge.

Plain cannot show that the district court erred in finding that he failed to prove systematic exclusion, as required by *Veal* and *Duren*.

1. Both *Veal* and *Lilly* rejected the premise that underrepresentation over time, standing alone, can prove systematic exclusion.

On prong #3, Plain starts with a familiar argument: “the results of the standard deviation test alone prove that underrepresentation of African-Americans on Black Hawk County juries was not random” and therefore establishes systematic exclusion. *See* Def’s Br. at 33–34. But it is not enough to prove that African-American potential jurors were underrepresented over time. There may be other explanations for that phenomenon that are unattributable to the system used to select and summon eligible jurors. Plain is incorrect to argue that, “as a matter of deductive logic,” the only two possible explanations for observed underrepresentation of African-Americans on jury pools over time are (1) systematic exclusion that is attributable to some feature of the jury management process, and (2) random chance. *See* Def’s Br. at 38–39. Plain’s false dichotomy ignores every other conceivable explanation, including the only explanation that Hannaford-Agor suggested: that

African-Americans are overrepresented among jury-eligible residents with lower incomes, who are (in turn) disproportionately likely to *choose* not to respond to a summons or *choose* not to appear for trial. *See* HearingTr. 35:17–36:14; Ex. 109 at 6; App. 439. Moreover, the entire premise of a “distinctive group” is that belonging to that group is associated with “a common thread or basic similarity in attitude, ideas, or experience” and “a community of interest among members of the group” that is sufficiently unique that “the group’s interests cannot be adequately represented if the group is excluded from the jury selection process.” *See Ford v. Seabold*, 841 F.2d 677, 681–82 (6th Cir. 1988). Plain cannot allege that there is *something* unique about the African-American experience that makes his trial unfair if none of his potential jurors can bring those experiences to the table, and then simultaneously argue that there is *nothing* unique about the lived experience of African-Americans that could impact the way that they make decisions about whether to respond to a jury summons or whether to appear for jury service (which is an implied premise of his deductive logic). Proof of causation is always required for prong #3—a showing of underrepresentation over time is just “not enough.” *See Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 330 (citing *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 305–08).

Plain’s attempts to change the law on this point would fail, even if this Court were writing on a blank slate—and it is not. Plain’s claim is also foreclosed by law of the case. The opinion on Plain’s last appeal included an unfortunate quotation from a student note, which was sometimes misconstrued as a new holding about the burden of proof on prong #3: that future defendants only had to establish a pattern of underrepresentation, and then simply assert that “it stands to reason that some aspect of the jury-selection procedure is causing that underrepresentation.” *See Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 824 (quoting David M. Coriell, Note, *An (Un)fair Cross Section: How the Application of Duren Undermines the Jury*, 100 CORNELL L. REV. 463, 481 (2015)). But in *Lilly*, the Iowa Supreme Court rejected that characterization of its holding in *Plain*, because that opinion had “repeatedly noted that the defendant had the burden to establish systematic exclusion, not merely underrepresentation.” *See Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 306 n.8 (citing *Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 822–24). Therefore, Plain’s call to abandon the requirement that he must prove causation for systematic exclusion on prong #3 is already foreclosed by law of the case. *See State v. Ragland*, 812 N.W.2d 654, 658 (Iowa 2012) (quoting *Bahl v. City of Asbury*, 725 N.W.2d 317, 321 (Iowa 2006)) (“[A]n appellate decision becomes the

law of the case and is controlling on both the trial court and on any further appeals in the same case.”); accord *State v. Grosvenor*, 402 N.W.2d 402, 405 (Iowa 1987). Even if that prior holding was wrong on the merits, it would still be binding in this case. See *State v. Cromer*, 765 N.W.2d 1, 7 n.4 (Iowa 2009) (noting that a ruling in prior appeal was incorrect, but that “[n]evertheless, this ruling became the law of the case on remand, whether the ruling was right or wrong”).

Plain cannot sidestep the burden of establishing a causal link between some feature of the jury management process and patterns of underrepresentation over time. See *Veal*, 930 N.W.2d at 330.

2. *Veal* held that a claim of “systematic negligence” arising from run-of-the-mill jury management practices cannot establish systematic exclusion for a challenge under the Sixth Amendment.

Plain targets run-of-the-mill jury management practices like sending only one round of failure-to-respond letters or declining to refer every failure-to-appear to the court for contempt proceedings. See Def’s Br. at 36–38. But because he is limited to a challenge under the Sixth Amendment, *Veal* applies—which means that Plain’s claims that the observed underrepresentation arose from a failure to update “run-of-the-mill jury management practices” and adopt new practices would not establish systematic exclusion, even if entirely correct. See

Veal, 930 N.W.2d at 329–30. *Veal* held that, for a Sixth Amendment fair cross-section claim, “[t]he defendant must identify some practice or combination of practices that led to the underrepresentation, and it must be something other than the ‘laundry list’ the Supreme Court declined to condemn in *Berghuis*.” *See id.* at 330 (quoting *Berghuis v. Smith*, 559 U.S. 314, 332 (2010)). That laundry list included:

[T]he County’s practice of excusing people who merely alleged hardship or simply failed to show up for jury service, its reliance on mail notices, its failure to follow up on nonresponses, its use of residential addresses at least 15 months old, and the refusal of Kent County police to enforce court orders for the appearance of prospective jurors.

See id. at 329 (quoting *Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 332). Most of Plain’s theories of systematic exclusion are identical to items on that list, including his arguments that Black Hawk County jury management caused underrepresentation by failing to follow up on non-responses and/or by failing to ensure that potential jurors faced consequences for failing to respond or failing to appear. *See* Def’s Br. at 36–38. And his theory about high rates of “undeliverables” is analogous to complaints about “reliance on mail notices” or “use of residential addresses at least 15 months old.” *See Veal*, 830 N.W.2d at 829 (quoting *Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 332). Plain recognizes that holding is fatal to his challenge, so he argues that it should be overruled. *See* Def’s Br. at 40–44.

Plain argues that this limitation misreads *Berghuis* and *Duren*. See Def’s Br. at 40–44. But *Duren* did not involve a run-of-the-mill jury management practice—it dealt with a rule that, by express terms, funneled potential jurors out of the system on the basis of gender. See *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 306–61; accord *id.* at 367 & n.25 (explaining that existence of automatic exemption for women meant “[t]he resulting disproportionate and consistent exclusion from women” at all stages after the initial canvass “was quite obviously” attributable to that rule, especially when typical exemptions did not produce similar disparity on master jury wheel in the federal district court for the same area). *Berghuis* held that the Michigan Supreme Court had not applied an unreasonable view of *Duren* when it held that “the influence of social and economic factors on juror participation does not demonstrate a systematic exclusion of African-Americans.” See *People v. Smith*, 615 N.W.2d 1, 3 (Mich. 2000); accord *Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 332–33. And it cautioned against inferring that “jury-selection-process features of the kind on Smith’s list can give rise to a fair-cross-section claim.” See *Berghuis*, 559 U.S. at 333. After all, the Court had already recognized “broad discretion in the States” to prescribe juror qualifications and implement their own jury management processes. See *id.* (quoting

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